# **RECEIVED**

## 01-10-2017

## CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WISCONSINOF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT III

Appellate Case No: 2016AP1540CR Outagamie County Case No: 13-CT-214

STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Lonnie L. Sorenson,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN OUTAGAMIE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT AND FROM THE ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S POST CONVICTION MOTION, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL W. GAGE PRESIDING.

#### **DEFENDANT-APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX**

SCHAEFER LAW FIRM, S.C. By: Attorney Linda J. Schaefer State Bar No. 1062975

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

DID THE TRIAL COURT EXERCISE ERRONEOUS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED SORENSON'S POST CONVICTION MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WITHOUT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING?

- Did the trial court err when it denied Sorenson's post conviction motion alleging ineffective assistance of counsel without first holding an evidentiary hearing?
- Did the trial court err when it permitted the state to violate Wisconsin's Discovery Statute by not providing Sorenson with reports, statements, or a written summary of expert findings prior to that expert's testimony?
- Did the trial court err when it allowed the state to violate Sorenson's right to confront witnesses who testified against him when it allowed the state to call a witness who testified to tests and test results performed by other persons?

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The issues presented in this appeal are controlled by settled state and federal law and, therefore, the appellant does not recommend oral argument or publication.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it denied Sorenson's postconviction motion for a new trial without holding an evidentiary hearing. When the court denied the motion, Sorenson's first appellate attorney had left his practice and withdrawn from Sorenson's case, but new appellate counsel had not yet been appointed. The motion was denied on the basis of the motion as filed and the State's response to the motion. There was no opportunity for appellate counsel to present evidence and argument on any of the several issues raised in the postconviction motion.

Sorenson raises several troubling issues in his postconviction motion that can be grouped under three points:

- Violation of Wisconsin's discovery statute;
- Violation of Sorenson's right to confront and cross examine the persons who present evidence against him;

• Denial of Sorenson's allegation of ineffective assistance of trial counsel without first holding an evidentiary hearing.

Because the trial court denied Sorenson's post conviction Motion for a New Trial that asserted these errors without an evidentiary hearing, Sorenson asks this court to reverse his conviction, vacate his judgment of conviction, and grant his postconviction motion for a new trial.

## PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND STATEMENT OF FACTS

In the evening of December 14, 2012, Lonnie L. Sorenson exercised his interest in music and music production as he produced a show at The Dixie Clubhouse, a club in Outagamie County, Wisconsin. (R. 161:278-279). Sorenson arrived at The Dixie Clubhouse at about 8:00 pm and left at about 11:00 pm. (R. 161:280). During that time, Sorenson set up the show and the stage for Scott Meyer, the musician who performed that evening at The Dixie Clubhouse. (R. 161: 280). Upon leaving The Dixie Clubhouse, Sorenson obtained permission from Meyer to use the band's van to go to another club, the Cold Shot Bar, to see Chris Aaron play. (R. 161:280).

Sorenson arrived at the Cold Shot Bar around 11:00 pm, and stayed there approximately two and a half hours, during which he consumed three beers. (R. 161:281). Later that evening, Sorenson testified that he also consumed two shots of Sambuca. (R. 161:282).

At approximately 1:45 am on December 15, 2012, Officer Vanderheiden of the City of Appleton Police Department stopped Sorenson because the headlights on the van were not turned on. (R. 161:109). Officer Vanderheiden testified that she noticed an odor of burnt, not fresh or burning, marijuana. (R. 161:117). As part of this stop, Officer Duven, a canine officer with the City of Appleton Police Department brought Syrt, her canine, to the scene. (R. 161:128). Syrt eventually indicated the presence of an illegal drug odor. (R. 161:130, 134). Another City of Appleton Police Officer, Officer VanZeeland, also attended the traffic stop, performing various field sobriety tests on Sorenson. (R:161:175-184). Ultimately, Officer VanZeeland determined that Sorenson had failed the field sobriety tests and advised him that he would be arrested for operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated, and Sorenson was taken into custody. (R. 161:184). At 3:06 that morning, December 15, 2012, a blood sample was drawn from Sorenson at St. Elizabeth Hospital, Appleton, Wisconsin. (R. 161:163).

The State filed a criminal complaint on February 18, 2013, charging in Count 1, Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated –  $2^{nd}$  Offense; Count 2, Operating With Prohibited Alcohol Concentration –  $2^{nd}$  Offense; and Count 3, Operate Motor Vehicle While Revoked. (R. 2). A number of hearings followed, and the complaint was amended several times. (R: 37, 44, 58, 67, 78, 82). As of the trial date on July 24, 2013, Sorenson faced four counts: Count 1, Operating a Motor Vehicle While Intoxicated (including controlled

substance) –  $2^{nd}$  Offense; Count 2, Operating with Prohibited Alcohol Concentration –  $2^{nd}$  Offense; Count 3, Operating with Restricted Controlled Substance in Blood –  $2^{nd}$  Offense; and Count 4, Possession of Drug Paraphernalia. (R. 82).

Also during the pendency of this case, Sorenson's attorneys filed a number of unsuccessful substantive motions, including, among others, a Motion to Suppress (R. 12), a Motion for Discovery (R. 18), a Motion to Suppress Evidence Gathered Without Warrant (R. 21), a Motion to Dismiss Charge (R. 35), a Motion for Suppression of Evidence Due to Warrantless Detention (R. 56), a Motion for Witness Discovery (R. 69), a Motion to Use a Learned Treatise (R. 72), and a Motion to Exclude Testimony and Compel a Written Opinion (Decision and Order at R. 95). Sorenson's attorneys filed numerous discovery demands and motions in preparation for trial. (R. 5, 9, 11, 18, 69, 84, 103).

Initially, this matter came for trial on January 29, 2014. (R. 156). On that date, Attorney Pitsch, for Sorenson, asserted to the court that he had just received notice of a

situation with the analysts at the State Laboratory of Hygiene regarding their testimony and presence at Sorenson's trial. (R. 156:21). Attorney Pitsch raised the confrontation issue at this hearing, pointing out to the court that a person who signs off on results cannot testify to those results unless he or she did those things. (R. 156:19). After significant discussion on the record, Judge Gage ultimately decided to adjourn the trial and reschedule it so that the proper experts would be present to testify. (R. 156:36).

Eventually, the matter came to trial on July 24, 2014 in the Circuit Court for Outagamie County, the Honorable Michael W. Gage presiding. (R. 161). As part of the state's case, Ms. Kalscheur from the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene was called and testified to the process used in testing Sorenson's blood for THC and alcohol. (R. 161: 237 et seq.). She testified that although she tested the blood for THC, another analyst had performed the alcohol testing and Ms. Kalscheur only reviewed the results later. (R. 161:241, 243). Sorenson was ultimately convicted on all counts. (R. 161:357). Sentencing was scheduled for September 11, 2014.(R. 161:367).

The court imposed sentence on Sorenson on September 11, 2014 on Counts 2 and 5 of the First Amended Complaint. (R. 162:5). Both sides presented sentencing arguments. (R. 162:5-8). The court imposed a sentence of 20 days of straight jail time with the first two days in lock-up and Huber for the remainder; a fine plus costs; and license revocation and ignition interlock requirements. R. 162:12).

Sorenson filed his Notice of Intent to Pursue Post Conviction Relief, and this appeal ensues. (R. 121). Sorenson has had several appellate attorneys appointed by the State Public Defender: Attorney Peter Heyne, who had to withdraw due to a change in employment (R. 130); Attorney Steve Ryder, who had to withdraw due to military service (R. 135), and the undersigned, Attorney Linda Schaefer (R. 138), who submits this brief.

On January 4, 2016, prior to his withdrawal, Attorney Ryder filed a (postconviction) Motion for a New Trial, which included several grounds for granting a new trial. (R. 132, App. 1). The state responded to this Motion on March 4, 2016, arguing against all grounds presented in Sorenson's Motion. (R. 134). The court permitted Attorney Ryder to withdraw, by signed order, on March 18, 2016. (R. 135). Then, on March 31, 2016, the court held a hearing and denied Sorenson's Motion, even though neither Sorenson nor any representative was present. (R. 164, R. 137, App. 2). Finally, current appellate counsel, Attorney Linda Schaefer was appointed on April 19, 2016. (R. 138).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

A discretionary decision will be sustained if the circuit court has examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law, and, using a demonstrated rational process, reached a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach. *Industrial Roofing v. Marquardt*, 299 Wis.2d 81, 726 N.W.2d 898, 906, [[41 (2007). (Additional citations omitted).

When ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged, the question of whether a motion alleges facts, that, if true, would

entitle a defendant to relief is a question of law that the appellate court reviews independently. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis.2d 303, 310m 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). When the factual allegations are insufficient or conclusory, then the appellate court will apply the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *Id.* at 310-311.

Although a circuit court's decision to admit evidence is ordinarily a matter for the court's discretion, whether the admission of evidence violates a defendant's right to confrontation is a question of law subject to independent appellate review. *State v. Williams*, 253 Wis.2d 99, 109, citing *State v. Ballos*, 230 Wis. 2d 495, 504, 602 N.W.2d 117 (Ct. App. 1999).

#### ARGUMENT

#### Introduction

Sorenson asserts that he is entitled to a new trial on several fundamental grounds, namely, discovery violations, confrontation violation, and ineffective assistance of counsel. Before these grounds can be reached, however, there is an even more basic issue: Sorenson's postconviction motion was denied without his presence or the presence of counsel, but with the presence of the district attorney. Attorney Ryder, who filed Sorenson's postconviction motion, had to withdraw from representation due to impending military service. Before new counsel could be appointed to argue the motion, the court held a hearing and denied the motion. The district attorney was present and participated in that hearing, however, making the hearing something akin to an *ex parte* proceeding.

Within Sorenson's Motion For a New Trial are several meaningful assertions of error that should be addressed at an evidentiary hearing. By its action, the court denied Sorenson a fair opportunity to be heard on his motion.

Sorenson appeals from his judgment of conviction and from the order denying his Motion for a New Trial.

## I. THE TRIAL COURT EXERCISED ERRONEOUS DISCRETION WHEN IT DENIED SORENSON'S POST CONVICTION MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL WITHOUT HOLDING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING.

In Wisconsin, the state public defender is charged with representing individuals who qualify for representation: "the state public defender shall prosecute a postconviction … remedy on behalf of the person before any court, if the state public defender determines the case should be pursued." Wis. Stats. §977.05(4)(j). "It would be absurd to suggest that a person has a right to counsel at trial and on appeal, but no right to counsel at a postconviction proceeding in the circuit court, which is often the precursor to an appeal. *State v. Peterson,* 2008 WI App 33, 308 Wis.2d 374, 746 N.W.2d 590, 07-0933.

Whether or not an evidentiary hearing is held as a result of a post conviction motion is a question left to the discretion of the trial court. *See State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 18, 335 Wis.2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334, cert. denied, 132 S.Ct. 825 (2011).

Here, Sorenson's Motion for a New Trial raises at least three errors which, separately or together, provide a sufficient basis for the trial court to have held an evidentiary hearing on the motion. Sorenson's appellate counsel, Attorney Ryder, who was appointed by the state public defender, filed the motion for a new trial, but soon after was called to military service and had to withdraw from representing Sorenson any further. The state public defender determined that Sorenson was still eligible for representation by their office; however, a period of time passed before the undersigned appellate attorney was appointed to continue Sorenson's appeal. There was no error or fault by Sorenson that led to his being without representation during this period. After Attorney Ryder withdrew and before Attorney Schaefer was appointed, the trial court received the state's response to Attorney Ryder's motion, held a non-evidentiary hearing with only the district attorney present, and denied the motion.

Sorenson had no opportunity to respond to the state's reply brief. He was not present at the hearing, and of course no attorney was present on his behalf either, as successor counsel had not yet been appointed. Sorenson was denied the opportunity to make any argument in support of his motion for a new trial; the district attorney was present, however, and participated in the hearing.

It is patently unfair that argument was taken when only one party to the motion was present. The state public defender was making efforts to appoint new appellate counsel for Sorenson, and that new appellate attorney should have been provided an opportunity to respond to the state's reply to Sorenson's motion. Sorenson had made clear his intention to pursue an appeal, and denying this motion during the period between two appellate attorneys represents erroneous discretion.

> A. The Trial Court Erred When It Denied Sorenson's Post Conviction Motion Alleging Ineffective Assistance Of Counsel Without An Evidentiary Hearing.

Also included in Sorenson's Motion for a New Trial is an allegation of ineffective assistance of trial counsel, which presents another basis upon which an evidentiary hearing should have been held. When a postconviction motion alleges ineffective assistance of counsel, the court must hold an evidentiary hearing if the defendant shows that his attorney's actions constituted deficient performance, and that the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116,  $\P$  30, 284 Wis.2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62. Further, the United States Supreme Court, in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), teaches "[that] a convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction ... requires that the defendant show, first, that counsel's performance was deficient and, second, that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense so as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial." *Id.* at 669.

Here, Sorenson's motion lays out a strong basis for his assertion that trial counsel was ineffective: Attorney Mroczkowski failed to object to speculation and testimony beyond expertise by the state's expert witness. At points during Ms. Kalscheur's testimony Sorenson's attorney should have objected to Ms. Kalscheur's conclusions and speculation, but she did not. This defective performance prejudiced the defendant because the expert in question was the state's only expert relative to a critical element of one of the charges, namely the presence and amount of ethanol and THC in Sorenson's blood sample. Admission of Ms. Kalscheur's significant but incompetent testimony "undermines confidence that the right outcome was reached in the trial proceeding." (R. 132:5, App. 1).

In addition, Attorney Mroczkowski failed to present alternate expert testimony to rebut the state's assertions regarding the alleged drug and alcohol readings subscribed to Sorenson by the blood test testified to by Ms. Kalscheur. The testimony of an appropriately qualified expert with knowledge of drug and alcohol retrograde analysis may well have created sufficient reasonable doubt to change the outcome of the trial. Deficient performance by Attorney Mroczkowski prejudiced Sorenson.

Because Sorenson pled sufficient facts regarding the ineffective assistance of his trial counsel to show both deficient performance and prejudice in his Motion for a New Trial, the trial court erred when it denied Sorenson's motion without an evidentiary hearing. Sorenson should be granted an evidentiary hearing on his Motion For a New Trial.

> B. The Trial Court Erred When It Permitted The State To Violate Wisconsin's Discovery Statute By Not Providing Sorenson With Reports, Statements, Or A Written Summary of Expert Findings Prior to That Expert's Testimony.

Wisconsin Statutes provide that "... the District Attorney *shall* (emphasis added), within a reasonable time before trial, disclose to the defendant ... any reports or statements of experts made in connection with the case or, if an expert does not prepare a report or statement, a written summary of the expert's findings or the subject matter of his or her testimony, and the results of any physical or mental examination, scientific test, experiment or comparison that the district attorney intends to offer in evidence at trial." Wis. Stats. §971.23(1)(e).

Here, all of Sorenson's trial attorneys made numerous demands on the state for information covered in the statute noted above, with no success. Sorenson was forced to come to trial unaware of Ms. Kalscheur's conclusions, and therefore he was unable to present appropriate rebuttal expert testimony. This violation contributed to Sorenson's conviction.

Because Sorenson pled sufficient facts regarding the state's discovery violation to support his Motion for a New Trial, the court exercised erroneous discretion when it denied Sorenson's motion without an evidentiary hearing. Sorenson should be granted an evidentiary hearing on his Motion For a New Trial.

> C. The Trial Court Erred When It Allowed The State To Violate Sorenson's Right To Confront Witnesses Who Testified Against Him When It Allowed The State To Call A Witness Who Testified To Tests And Test Results Performed By Other Persons.

The Sixth Amendment to the US Constitution provides that "[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right to be confronted with the witnesses against him." This right applies in state court as well as in federal court through the Fourteenth Amendment to the US Constitution. In Wisconsin, the right of confrontation is not satisfied when the government produces a witness who does nothing but summarize out-of-court statements and opinions made by others." *State v. Williams*, 253 Wis.2d 99, 113-14. The Wisconsin Supreme Court further distinguishes between an expert who forms their opinion partially on the basis of others and an expert who only summarizes the work of others. "One expert cannot act as a mere conduit for the opinion of another." *Id.* at 113-114. A highly qualified witness who is familiar with the procedures at hand, supervises or reviews the work of the testing analyst, and renders her own expert opinion is sufficient to protect a defendant's right to confrontation." *Id.* at 113-114.

Here, Ms. Kalscheur of the Wisconsin State Laboratory of Hygiene testified in summary fashion to the results and conclusions of other scientists who had actually tested Sorenson's blood for alcohol. However, at trial, she testified that she only tested Sorenson's blood for THC, and not for alcohol. She did not perform any alcohol tests, nor did she supervise the alcohol testing. She merely performed a review of the results obtained by another employee. No adequate foundation appears to exist upon which to base Ms. Kalscheur's testimony relative to Sorenson's alcohol testing results. In fact, she acted as a conduit for the work of another, and did not directly supervise that work. Applying State v. Williams, her testimony with regard to the alcohol testing should have been stricken. Sorenson was denied the right to confront the person testifying against him.

Because Sorenson pled sufficient facts regarding the denial of his right to confrontation to support his Motion for a New Trial, the trial court exercised erroneous discretion when it denied that motion without an evidentiary hearing. Sorenson should be granted an evidentiary hearing on his Motion For a New Trial.

#### CONCLUSION

WHEREFOR, Sorenson respectfully requests that this

Court reverse his conviction, vacate his judgment of conviction, and grant him a new trial in Outagamie County Case Number 13-CT-214 because the circuit court erred when it denied Sorenson's post conviction Motion For a New Trial.