RECEIVED

02-27-2017

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

Appellate Case: 2016AP1540-CR Outagamie County Case: 2013CT000214

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

Lonnie L. Sorenson,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT Branch V FOR OUTAGAMIE COUNTY

The Honorable Michael W. Gage, Presiding

BRIEF & APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

Zak Buruin
ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY
320 S. WALNUT STREET
APPLETON WI 54911
(920) 832-5024
Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent
Wisconsin Bar Number 1089100

02/22/2017

ARGUMENT

1. Sorenson's claims of error are moot in light of the comprehensive jury verdict.

This case demands an extra layer to any harmless error analysis. In addition to examining whether any alleged error may be harmless, the Court should also consider that any error it finds was prejudicial with respect to its relevant charge is still ultimately harmless in the context of the case as a whole.

Assuming, arguendo, that any or all of Sorenson's claims of error have merit, he cannot overcome the fact that the jury found him guilty of Operating While Intoxicated (OWI), Operating with a Prohibited Alcohol Concentration (PAC), and Operating with a Restricted Controlled Substance (RCS). Sorenson's claims are aimed the OWI and PAC verdicts. He offers no claims that undermine or even address the RCS verdict even if his claims with respect to the other counts are taken at face

The RCS verdict is unassailable regardless of any potential findings on the remaining counts. The net result conviction for remains one counting and purposes. Wis. Stat §346.63(1) (c). Even if the Court finds merits to Sorenson's claims, the practicality of his situation will not change. The penalties remain the same, the number of convictions remains the same, and the facts brought forth at trial upon which the trial court pronounced sentence remain the same.

Should the Court find prejudicial error with respect to the OWI or PAC counts, that error would be adequately addressed by directing the trial court to amend the Judgement of Conviction to indication conviction for the RCS count, a functionally identical offense of which Sorenson was also found guilty at trial.

2. Sorenson was not entitled to a hearing on his postconviction motion for a new trial because the facts he
alleged would demonstrate neither deficient
performance nor prejudice even if true.

Sorenson requested a new trial on multiple grounds, many of which were previously addressed by the trial court either at or before trial. The specific contentions will

be addressed in detail below, as they are the same as brought before the Court in this appeal.

Sorenson additionally argues that he was denied an opportunity to respond to the state's brief due to the withdrawal of counsel. Sorenson contends that it is "patently unfair that argument was taken when only one party to the motion was present." (Appellant's Brief: 13-14).

Sorenson fails to acknowledge that his prior appellate counsel withdrew from representation after the date any reply brief was due. (R. 131). He fails to acknowledge that no appearance was made on his behalf, including by himself, at the March 31, 2016 hearing. (Id). He fails to acknowledge the efforts by the trial judge to ascertain the status of Sorenson's representation and the information he was provided by the Office of the State Public Defender. (Id). No arguments or contentions responsive to the state's brief or the trial court's analysis have been offered to date, casting severe doubt on whether any meaningful additional response was possible from Sorenson. Sorenson has not alleged any way in which there is any reasonable basis to believe a different outcome was possible, let alone likely. He is not entitled to a new

trial or even a hearing on his motion based upon the facts alleged. State v. Balliette, 2011 WI 79, \P 79, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 389-90, 805 N.W.2d 334, 349.

Additionally, Sorenson affirmatively misstates the facts about the fairness of the hearing held. There was no argument. The state's contribution to the hearing consisted of two words at the close of the hearing: "Thank you." (R. 164:12). Rather than the hearing being patently unfair, Sorenson's contention of ex parte argument is demonstrably false.

Sorenson was not denied the right to be heard on his motion as far as he was actually entitled to be heard. No ex parte argument was heard by the trial court. There was no error, no denial of right to counsel and no ineffective assistance of counsel. There is no prejudice to Sorenson. He is not entitled to relief on these grounds.

3. Sorenson was effectively represented at trial.

Sorenson argues that his trial counsel should have objected to "speculation" testimony by Diane Kalscheur. In his post-conviction brief to the trial court, Sorenson indicates that the speculative testimony was related to Ms. Kalscheur opining on his intoxication at the time of the

offense. (R. 132:4). Rather than speculate about Sorenson's intoxication, what Ms. Kalscheur actually did was provide information about the effects of alcohol in general. (R. 161:231) She indicated that AMA and NHTSA standards presume intoxication at a BAC level of .10, but specifically stated that she did not like to "just look at the numbers for any case..." (Id). She provided general information from sources experts in her field would reasonably be expected to rely upon. She did not claim knowledge of Sorenson's intoxication or lack thereof, nor did she speculate on the topic.

The contention that Ms. Kalscheur was incompetent to provide such testimony must fail because it is based upon an inaccurate account of her testimony and it additionally ignores the background, training, experience and common sense underlying the testimony that was given. (R. 161:214-223).

Failure by Sorenson's trial counsel to call a rebuttal expert to contest the assertions made by Ms. Kalscheur regarding the drug and alcohol testing is not shown to be deficient performance. Speculation that drug and alcohol retrograde extrapolation testimony "may" have created reasonable doubt is a conclusory statement without backing.

At best, such testimony would have been redundant to what was in evidence. Trial counsel was able to elicit testimony from Ms. Kalscheur sufficient to argue during closing argument that Sorenson's blood alcohol level could have been below the legal limit at the time of his driving based upon Sorenson's account of events. (R. 161:298, 331-334).

Having established that such an occurrence was possible using the state's witness, an additional expert would have no additional effect. The jury's decision would still come down to an assessment of Sorenson's credibility, whether one, two or 50 experts established that defendant's account of events, if true, could have left him below the prohibited alcohol concentration at the time of Sorenson cannot show that such testimony would refute the state's contention that the blood test results were the result of his consumption of alcohol prior to State v. Nixon, 2013 WI App 138, ¶ 8, 351 Wis. 2d driving. 684, 840 N.W.2d 139 (cited for persuasive value only).

Neither deficiency nor prejudice is shown. Sorenson is not entitled to relief based upon ineffective assistance of trial counsel.

4. The state did not violate its discovery obligation with respect to providing notice of expert opinion.

The state complied with its discovery obligations under Wisconsin Statutes §971.23(1) (e). As noted by the trial court, it is not clear that the calculation was undertaken prior to the trial, nor was it clear that the issue of the timing of THC ingestion was implicated until the trial began. (R. 164:6). It was the defense that raised the issue of passive inhalation and thus, the timing of inhalation on the day of trial. (R. 161:10). (R. 164:6, 7). The trial court properly looked at the testimony as defensive or rebuttal. (R. 164:7).

It was Sorenson who, through a series of defenses leading up to and at the time of trial, who would have been most aware that the timing of the ingestion of the THC could be an issue. (R. 164:6). Conclusions on that issue were implicit and ascertainable from the data provided. (R. 164:7). Whether they would be implicated was only determined based upon the defense strategy at trial.

Sorenson cannot show that he was prejudiced by the statutory violation alleged. No specific allegation of prejudice was made either during post-conviction proceedings before the trial court, nor is any made in

Sorenson's motion before this Court. That he was "unable to present appropriate rebuttal expert testimony," is conclusory and speculative. (Appellant's Brief: 18). Sorenson has not provided any indication, even with the benefit of more than two years of hindsight, what obtainable testimony from what additional witness could have constituted a meaningful response to Ms. Kalscheur's testimony. This is because there is no such testimony.

Sorenson is not entitled to relief grounds of a violation of discovery obligations.

5. Ms. Kalscheur provided permissible expert opinion based upon her own knowledge, expertise, experience and review of the relevant data regarding Sorenson's blood ethanol analysis.

When addressing the admissibility of Diane Kalscheur's testimony as expert, the trial court referred to a pretrial hearing that was taken up on the same issue with respect to a different analyst who was to have testified. (R. 164:5). Citing the relevant cases and the facts of the prior witness' qualifications as ascertained at a prior hearing, the trial court found it to be a "straight forward"

application" of the law that established the admissibility of the anticipated testimony. (R. 95:4).

trial, Diane Kalscheur's qualifications Αt established with respect to her background and her review of the relevant information in this case. (R. 161:214-She reviewed the records for Sorenson's sample including the functionality of the testing equipment, the testing analyst's report and the peer reviewer's report, as well as the records from the entire testing run. (R. 161:220, 221, 226, 243). Sorenson's argument she "merely performed a review of the results obtained by another employee" not only ignores his own admission that qualified individual who "reviews the work of the testing analysis" may provide their own opinion. (Appellant's Brief: 19. (Emphasis added)). The argument disingenuously downplays the actual materials Ms. Kalscheur reviewed to be able to provide her opinion.

The same analysis that applied to the original analyst applies to the testimony of Ms. Kalscheur, as the trial court noted. (R. 95:5). Further, unlike the analyst originally set to testify, Ms. Kalscheur personally performed analysis on the Sorenson's THC level in addition

to reviewing the work of the ethanol. She was not a mere

conduit for the opinion of another.

Sorenson is not entitled to relief upon his claim that

his right to confrontation was violated.

CONCLUSION

Because the facts of this case demonstrate neither

error nor prejudice to Sorenson based upon any one or

combination of his claims, Sorenson is not entitled to any

relief. The state respectfully requests that the Court

deny the motion for a new trial in its entirety.